research in practice

# Reimagining residential children's homes

Residential care for adolescents. Right place, right time?



Dartington Trust

## **Contents**

## Reimagining residential children's homes: Residential care for adolescents. Right place, right time?

- 3 Introduction
- 4 Context
- 5 Policy context
- 6 A placement of last resort?
- 8 Continuum of care
- **11** The evidence base
- 13 Positive features of residential care
- **19** Therapy or therapeutic?
- 20 Using the evidence
- 21 References

# Residential care for adolescents. Right place, right time?

## Lisa Holmes

#### Introduction

This resource considers the role and purpose of residential care and the strength of the evidence to inform decisions about when, and whether, placing a young person in a children's home might be the 'right placement'. It explores examples of emerging good practice, drawing on recent developments in England, as well as the international evidence.

This is not a full review of the current evidence about residential children's homes, but has been written to offer some considerations about the role and purpose of residential homes for children in care. The focus is on residential placements for adolescents; specialist residential placements for disabled children, residential schools and custodial settings are not included.

#### **Context**

As indicated in the preceding resources in this Evidence Review on *Reimagining residential children's homes*, placements in children's homes constitute a relatively small proportion of placements for children in care and, even as the number of children in care has increased in recent years, the proportion of placements in children's homes and other residential settings has remained relatively stable (Department for Education, 2019).

Although the national data indicates that the number and proportions remain relatively low, the use of residential placements is variable between local authorities, and there are some concerns about the increase in 10 to 15-year-olds coming into care, with complex needs and circumstances, and who are likely to need residential placements.

With ongoing debates about the cost differentials between local authority and independent placements, a number of local authorities have developed, or indicated their intentions to (re)establish, local authority residential provision (Holmes, 2021; Newgate Research, 2021). However, in some areas placement insufficiency drives decision-making; thus, context is important, and it is not possible to consider how and when residential placements might be used without understanding the issues that drive supply and demand of placements.

The issues related to lack of placement choice, and variability in the quality of provision, have recently been highlighted by the Children's Commissioner (2020a), building on a series of briefings and reports focused on other fundamental issues for children in care, such as the use of unregulated placements (Children's Commissioner, 2020b; Greatbatch & Tate, 2020). The latest government data shows that the number of children placed in unregulated accommodation is growing, with 12,800 children and young people having spent some time in an unregulated placement in 2018-19 (Children's Commissioner, 2020b).

In addition to these broader issues about placement choice, the role of the independent sector and the growth of unregulated placements, there has also been a focus in recent years on the role and purpose of residential children's homes. This includes a Department for Education commissioned literature review of the place of residential care in the English child welfare system (Hart et al., 2015).

## **Policy context**

Over the past ten years there has been a policy focus on residential care, including the Narey review (2016). This was prompted by historical cases of abuse in residential children's homes and the vulnerability of those in residential care to child sexual exploitation, highlighted by the Office of the Children's Commissioner (2012). The review aimed to explore whether, and how, residential children's homes can best serve the needs of the children placed.

In response to the Narey review, the government committed to implementing a number of the recommendations, including the provision of funding to test innovative ways in which residential care might be used in more dynamic and creative ways to support children.

In addition to the Narey review, a number of policy developments over the past ten years have sought to improve standards in residential care:

#### > 2010

Children's Homes Challenge and Improvement Programme intended to share effective practice and instigate improvements in commissioning, quality and care planning.

#### > 2011

The statutory framework was revised and updated, including the Children's Homes Regulations and the National Minimum Standards (NMS), to place more emphasis on the quality of relationships rather than operational processes (Department for Education, 2011).

#### > 2013

A package of reforms with the first set of regulatory changes delivered in 2014. These were intended to ensure that children's homes were located in safe areas and that local authorities were effectively safeguarding children at risk of going missing.

#### > 2015

New Children's Homes Regulations and Quality Standards (*The Children's Homes (England) Regulations*, 2015).

## A placement of last resort?

Recent research has continued to highlight the prevalent view of residential care as 'a last resort', while foster or family-based care are seen as the preferential placement options to best meet the needs of children (Thoburn, 2016; Holmes et al., 2018). The authors argue that this perspective does not progress debates about whether, and how, residential placements might best meet the needs of some children and young people. Furthermore, when comparisons are made between different types of placements, and attempts are made to attribute outcomes to placements, these often do not take account of the needs of children, or the impact of prior care experiences, particularly if residential care is used as a placement of last resort.

### Two fundamental issues that are missing in the evidence base are:

- The degree to which residential care use as a last resort is real or perceived.
- b) Whether the timing of residential placements is based on a strategic, values-based decision to focus on 'family first' placements, or is driven by a lack of available, high-quality residential provision.

There has been some funding to test how residential care might be used more creatively to support children and to link their role and purpose with other placements, as part of a care continuum (Department for Education, 2014a). This funding was manifested in a range of residential care innovations and models trialled as part of the Department for Education (DfE) Children's Social Care Innovation Programme (Round 1). Many of these included creative uses of residential care and the testing of children's homes or residential units to support young people on the 'edge of care' (Rees et al., 2017).

Nine projects focused on adolescents on the edge of care. The models and approaches varied, and included the creation of multi-disciplinary hubs as part of North Yorkshire's No Wrong Door; a residential, whole-family provision (Family Learning Intervention Project set up by the London Borough of Hackney) and an off-site residential education provision (Tri-borough Alternative Provision).

## Views and experiences of young people

In their 2015 review, Hart and colleagues emphasise that 'what matters' to children and young people should underpin all decisions made about their care and placements. Positive relationships with staff have been cited as the biggest single factor that determines satisfaction with a placement (Hart et al., 2015). The perspective that placement purpose and role should be dominant over the placement type is highlighted in the following quote:

Many believe a family environment is a more suitable placement for a young person to grow up in. That may be the case for lots of young people and children in care, but not for all. Unfortunately, there seems to be a big push for foster care as residential care isn't viewed as an ideal option, more of a last resort if they can't find another suitable placement.

That attitude needs to change, residential care homes work for a number of young people for reasons that are probably far too complicated than I can ever fully explain. But I do know that for me and a number of other young people, care homes were the BEST option, not the last resort option and they did some amazing work with us during our time there.

(Care leaver quoted in Narey, 2016, p. 5)

Schofield and colleagues (2015) also indicated that young people reported positive experiences of residential children's homes and, in some instances, highlighted their preference for a residential setting rather than family-based care. This preference has been highlighted recently in a film produced by a group of young people with experience of living in a children's home:

https://vimeo.com/498055987/38a044e4c1

#### Continuum of care

A good understanding of the needs of individual children will help to support decision-making about whether a residential placement best meets their needs although, of course, this is predicated on the availability of placements so that choices may be needs-led. As indicated in this resource, there is limited systematic and standardised information about the needs of children and young people in care, certainly in national administrative datasets. What we do know is that studies of residential care have reported high levels of needs, particularly associated with the behavioural and emotional difficulties of young people placed in residential care (Berridge et al., 2012).

There are international examples of evidence-based assessments of needs, for example, the extensively used Total Clinical Outcomes Management (TCOM) and Child and Adolescent Needs and Strengths (CANS) (see Box 1 for a summary). Research has found that children who met the model thresholds benefited more from therapeutic residential placements than those who fell below those thresholds (Whittaker et al., 2014). Although at the very early stages, the TCOM and CANS are being introduced in England<sup>1</sup>.

#### Box 1: International assessment of needs - CANS and TCOM

Child and Adolescent Needs and Strengths (CANS) is a theory-based model developed in the US. It relies on large, clinically-informed databases to determine which children are more likely to benefit from (which types) of residential treatment. CANS provides a comprehensive list of difficulties a child may be facing (for example, psychosis, depression, anxiety, eating disorder) and recommendation to residential treatment (including of a particular type) is based on the combination of the number and types of difficulties identified.

Transformational Collaborative Outcomes Management (TCOM) is the conceptual framework behind the use of the CANS. It is an approach to outcomes management designed to reduce tensions within complex and nuanced child welfare systems. The philosophy underpinning the TCOM is that decisions within child welfare systems should be based on the needs of those being supported.

The Centre for Outcomes of Care (OOC) is leading the implementation of Transformational Collaborative Outcomes Management (TCOM) and the Child and Adolescent Needs and Strengths (CANS) assessment in England. Further information is available on their website:

www.outcomesofcare.com/tcom-england-cans

Understanding needs does not necessarily require a standardised, evidence-based tool. There are also recent examples of referral criteria being used to assess the suitability of a service to meet a specific set of needs and characteristics. Some of these referral criteria also focus on risks, or include a screening tool. For example, Sefton Council introduced a screening tool as part of a new community-based, multi-agency, multi-disciplinary service (Community Adolescent Service – CAS) for young people between the ages of 12 and 25. It was used to identify young people for referral to the service and lists many of the vulnerabilities professionals would recognise as significant contributory risk factors. It includes those associated with wider community risks, as well as characteristics and behaviours associated with the young people (Rees et al., 2017).

The evaluation of the CAS reported mixed findings, and highlighted a number of implementation difficulties, including an overly ambitious plan, with management and supervisory structures still in development when the services were being rolled out (Day et al., 2017). The evaluation also highlighted that changes needed to be made to the service because the risk profile of the young people being referred was higher than anticipated; as such the service was not providing the 'earlier intervention' originally intended.

Despite some of the complexities during the early years of implementation, the CAS is still ongoing in Sefton. For further information see: www.sefton.gov.uk/social-care/children-and-young-people/concerned-about-a-young-person-speak-to-cas.

Assessments of needs or screening tools can also help to inform **when** residential care might be the right placement. Analysis published by the Department for Education in 2014 indicated that a children's home was the first placement for only 25% of care entrants, but the sixth placement for 31% of children's homes entrants (Department for Education, 2014b). Earlier analysis by Southwell and Fraser (2010) highlighted that many of the children and young people in their study sample had experienced more than four placement breakdowns.

The emphasis on adolescents on the 'edge of care' as part of the DfE's Children's Social Care Innovation Programme (Round 1) led to new practice to place young people in residential care earlier and as an alternative to a longer-term care episode. The premise for some of these new models of practice was using residential care as a preventative service (Rees et al., 2017).

Arguably, one of the most cited 'edge of care' projects has been North Yorkshire's No Wrong Door' (see Box 2 for a summary). With positive emerging evidence from the independent evaluation (Lushey et al., 2017), No Wrong Door is now being adopted and adapted across a number of other local authority areas as part of the Department for Education's Strengthening Families, Protecting Children Programme<sup>2</sup>.

The Department for Education is funding £84 million over five years to support up to 20 local authorities to improve work with families to safely reduce the number of children entering care. No Wrong Door is one of three children's social care innovation programme projects included in the initiative. Further information is available here: www.gov.uk/guidance/strengthening-families-protecting-children-sfpc-programme

#### **Box 2: No Wrong Door**

North Yorkshire's No Wrong Door (NWD) was developed to provide an integrated service for young people, aged 12 to 25, who are either in care, edging to care or on the edge of care, as well as those who have recently moved to supported or independent accommodation.

NWD operates from two hubs in North Yorkshire. These were originally set up in April 2015 and comprise multi-agency teams that include a communications support worker, who is a speech and language therapist; a life coach, who is a clinical psychologist; and a police liaison officer. The integrated team supports the young person throughout their journey to ensure they are not 'passed' from service to service but, instead, are supported by a dedicated team.

Some young people are placed in the hubs and others are supported by outreach. If required, residential respite in the hubs is offered for young people who are already in foster care, or are living with their families. Central to the NWD innovation is that all staff are trained in Signs of Safety, and restorative and solution-focused approaches.

The initial evaluation provided emerging evidence that NWD had contributed to a diversion from the care system for the majority (86%) of the young people referred to the service. The evaluation also identified reductions in criminal activity and high risk behaviours, as well as improvements in wellbeing (as measured by the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire).

Further information about No Wrong Door and the evaluation findings are available here:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/625366/Evaluation\_of\_the\_No\_Wrong\_Door\_Innovation\_Programme.pdf

#### The evidence base

In their review, Hart and colleagues (2015) highlighted the paucity of robust evidence about residential care and indicated that the evidence base on outcomes from children's residential care is undermined by the evidence gaps and methodological weaknesses of studies. Specifically, there are limited or (within the English context) no studies with control groups that facilitate a comparison in outcomes between children in residential care and their peers in family-based placements.

There is also limited contextual information that can help to explain positive or negative outcomes, or associate outcomes with the quality of the placement. Where outcomes from residential care are cited, these are mainly negative, drawing on research from policy areas other than children's social care, such as criminal justice and homelessness. Recent findings and analyses have cited poorer educational outcomes for young people living in residential homes in comparison with other placement types (Berridge et al., 2020). Although the analysis controlled for a range of factors, these poorer outcomes were for young people for whom residential care was a last placement, which again raises the question about a placement of last resort.

More recently, What Works Centre for Children's Social Care (WWCSC) added a review of residential care to its evidence store<sup>3</sup>. It is based on a systematic review, including a meta-analysis (Strijbosch et al., 2015). WWCSC indicate that the evidence is limited and further exploration of the review highlights that the inclusion criteria used by Strijbosch led to the omission of any UK studies.

The review also focuses on comparisons between residential and family-based placements and concludes that better outcomes are attributable to family-based placements. However, the review does not take account of needs at entry to placement and also covers the wide age range of 4 to 17 years old. There are evident differences in the role and purpose of residential placements across such a large age range, and research by Southwell and Fraser (2010) indicated that younger children (particularly those younger than 12) were the least positive about residential placements. This raises questions about the applicability and usefulness of the review for the English context, where residential placement for children under the age of ten would be the exception rather than the norm.

<sup>3</sup> WWCSC has created an evidence store based on the EMMIE (Effect, Mechanisms, Moderators, Implementation, Economic impact) evidence standards. The evidence store provides a dashboard view of the interventions they have reviewed to provide information about the overall effectiveness and strength of the evidence. The review for residential care is available here:

https://whatworks-csc.org.uk/evidence/evidence-store/intervention/residential-care

Hart and colleagues (2015) also highlight gaps in the evidence base in terms of 'what works' in residential care and 'for whom', with a lack of evidence that links children's characteristics with quantifiable and attributable outcomes. They also argue that the consequences of getting it wrong can be negative, both in terms of children's lives and also in terms of short and longer-term costs to society. There are also substantial gaps in the literature about the young people for whom residential care has the potential to have the greatest (positive) impact; for example, gender and ethnicity are largely used to provide a description of cohorts of young people, rather than the focus of analysis of outcomes.

So where does this leave us? Despite the evidence gaps, there are certain features and elements of residential care that are associated with a positive care experience. There are also international exemplars of good transferable practice although, of course, these need to be considered within the local context, and it is necessary to recognise the time and resources required to successfully implement new practices. There is also emerging evidence from recent innovative residential care practices and models in England and internationally.

### Positive features of residential care

A range of reviews, and existing evidence, cite certain features as being attributable to good quality residential care that can be deemed to be the right placement choice, for the **right** children, at the **right** time (Hart et al, 2015; Narey, 2016). These features, however, come with caveats around the quality of the evidence, but a focus on what we do know, even where the evidence is still emerging or is tentative, will help to inform placement decisions.

## A holistic approach

As detailed in Box 2, one of the core components of No Wrong Door is the integrated multi-agency team. Residential children's homes do not, and cannot, operate in isolation, and the integrated approach of No Wrong Door facilitates a holistic perspective of the needs of young people.

There is a recognition that a multi-agency team can bring a wealth of complementary skills and knowledge. It is important to recognise that some young people are not always receptive to separate mental health support and, as detailed earlier, fully integrated clinical psychologists within the No Wrong Door hubs can negate the need for a traditional, formal appointment-based approach to access mental health support. Furthermore, Ward and colleagues (2008) highlighted that young people with the most complex needs, who tend to enter care at a later age, are also the young people who are most likely to turn down mental health support, for example, via CAMHS.

Links with schools, and support via Virtual School Heads, are also vitally important for young people placed in residential children's homes. The *Virtual School Heads Handbook* (National Association of Virtual School Heads, 2018) emphasises the need for the structure of children's homes, and the potential impact of multiple carers' working rota patterns, to be recognised to best support the educational needs of young people (for further information see <a href="https://navsh.org.uk/the-virtual-school-handbook">https://navsh.org.uk/the-virtual-school-handbook</a>).

#### Culture of care

With the premise that residential care can be the right placement for some young people, this should be grounded in a culture of care. One of the 'provocations' that underpins No Wrong Door is 'Would this be good enough for my child?' It is a helpful consideration, with the caveat of the availability of placements. The ability and capacity of the workforce to provide good-quality care is central.

Hart and colleagues (2015) highlight that the strength of the underpinning theoretical model is, to a certain extent, redundant without a staff group who are equipped to deliver it. This premise also speaks to the growing knowledge that a shared ethos across the workforce is of more importance than the underpinning practice model (La Valle et al., 2019).

A number of studies have explored staff morale and job satisfaction within residential care in the UK. These are central to creating and supporting a positive culture of care. Mainey and Crimmens (2006) reported that residential care staff described their roles as a mix of procedural (care planning), supportive (showing concern) and supervisory (keeping order) work. They also highlighted workers' appetite for a greater focus on therapeutic work and opportunities to build and sustain relationships with family members, to support continuity of relationships beyond the placement.

## Relationships

The centrality of relationships and relationship-based practice is frequently cited in the broader social work literature. Similarly, the importance of positive relationships between staff and children in residential homes, as well as peer relationships, has been highlighted (Hart et al., 2015). Although there may be barriers to this (for example, staff turnover and a lack of staff training), Schofield and colleagues (2015) reported positive examples of experiences of residential children's homes and indicated that, in some instances, children and young people highlighted their preference for a residential setting rather than family-based care. Furthermore, Schofield and colleagues cite the positive and substantial influence that caring and nurturing relationships with residential care staff can have on positive identity formation for young people.

One of the key features of No Wrong Door was to establish strong, supportive and consistent relationships for children and young people, with an emphasis placed on continuation of relationships beyond the length of stay in the residential placement (Lushey et al., 2017). In addition, No Wrong Door foster carers and supported lodgings carers work as session workers within the hubs when they do not have children placed with them, which results in greater levels of integration and consistency of relationships.

When comparisons are made between foster care and residential care, they are often couched in the language of parenting. Recognition that relationships within residential settings are different to those within fostering households is helpful, and does not necessarily mean that these differences should be negative (Holmes et al., 2018). Using the language of parenting can be complex for children and young people in placements as they will often still have relationships with their biological parents and wider family. For some young people the concept of a replacement family can leave them feeling conflicted (Ward et al., 2008).

A recent qualitative study highlighted the central, and positive, role of relationships between residential workers and children and young people (Moore et al., 2018). The concept of 'professional neutrality', and the positive impact of that neutrality, has been highlighted by Clough and colleagues (2008). They argue that the ethos of positive neutrality provides a safe environment and conditions for young people to explore relationships.

Relationships between young people within residential care are also important, although much of the evidence focuses on the negative impact of children's home environments, associating the peer groups with criminal and deviant behaviours. In a recent publication, drawing on qualitative research with young people in associated residential and foster care settings in Norway, Negård and colleagues (2020) highlight the importance of children and young people being given opportunities to co-produce experiences and stories over time. They further argue the need for these experiences to take place without being pathologised or scrutinised. Although this study focused on children in long-term placements, the premise of recognising the importance of peer relationships within residential settings and avoiding the stigmas often associated with not being part of a nuclear family remain, even for shorter-term residential placements.

## Concept of home

An important question is whether the binary distinction between placement types helps or hinders debates and placement decision-making. Gere and MacDonald (2010) argue that a child's internal perception of their surroundings is perhaps more important than the placement type, which leads to the question: what do we know about residential children's homes that can support a child's sense of belonging (Holmes et al., 2018)?

The concept of **home** is well cited in the literature. For example, Berridge and colleagues (2012) emphasised the importance of the 'feel' of a home and how institutional features, such as an office, can negatively impact on the view of the placement as a home. Similarly, Thoburn (2016) described an environment in which the philosophy and characteristics of the care home aimed to build a sense of stability and belonging through the care system into adulthood, whereby young people were able to visit their children's home and seek support after they had left.

In countries with a tradition of social pedagogy, the 'feel' of the living space within children's homes is crucially important. Højlund (2011) undertook an ethnographic study in a group of homes in Denmark that aimed to establish a sense of 'hominess'. The homes tried to instil 'hominess' and also avoided the use of terms such as 'being on duty' and did not have an office within the home. If staff needed to do paperwork, they did it at the kitchen table. However, the study indicated that the young people knew it was a 'job' for the staff. Consequently, Højlund concluded that 'hominess' is perhaps an unattainable ideal, but that there are valid reasons for trying to achieve it.

The complexities associated with the implementation of the pilot programme to introduce social pedagogy into children's homes in England is referred to later in this resource. Many of these relate to the different contexts. There are, however, some social pedagogical concepts that Cameron and Maginn (2009) argue are integral to good quality residential care, and the concept of home and providing a sense of belonging.

Despite the difficulties associated with the implementation of social pedagogy as part of the pilot programme, there continue to be localised examples of social pedagogical practice – these are most evident in Scotland. A recent contribution by Gibb (2020) provides an insightful commentary on social pedagogical perspectives, and a response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

## Engagement with families

Statements about working in partnership with families are present throughout children's social care policy, but little is known about how this is interpreted in practice within residential children's care. Bringing together a range of international perspectives, Whittaker and colleagues (2016) identify engagement with families as a key principle of therapeutic residential care. Boddy (2013) also argues that there is a need to go 'beyond contact' and look at ways of actively involving children's lives. There are some positive examples of ways of working constructively with families from many European countries where there are lower rates of legally enforced placements in care.

An example provided by the research of Klap (2008) in Finland is provided in Box 3. This approach is focused on rehabilitation, a concept that is also evident in Israel (Grupper & Mero-Jaffe, 2008). The approach included dynamic workshops for parents within the children's home and family days. The findings were positive: the divided loyalties previously experienced by the children were reduced; parents became more confident; and staff felt more positive about them.

### Box 3: Partnership working with families – an example from Finland

A family rehabilitation centre in Finland that provides residential care for children aged 12 and over sets the following tasks for children:

- > Resolve issues of maltreatment.
- > Form at least one close relationship.
- > Improve self-esteem.
- > Make peace with their family.

Parents are actively involved in the process and work with the staff, even if there is no plan for the child to return home. They attend family meetings and are invited and encouraged to take part in recreational activities.

Further information about the Suvikumpu Family Rehabilitation Unit is available here:

www.pelastakaalapset.fi/en/our-work-in-finland/suvikumpu-family-rehabilitation-unit

## Short-term placements

The use of residential placements earlier, in a targeted way to address specific needs, has also included some approaches which have focused on short-term and intensive placements. There are a range of examples of the use of short-term residential placements, many introduced by local authorities as part of the DfE Children's Social Care Innovation Programme. These are summarised in the thematic review by Rees and colleagues (2017), although they conclude that there was no conclusive or generalisable evidence of the benefits of short-term placements.

The use of residential short-term placements as a form of respite is more firmly established in countries other than the UK (Dixon et al., 2015). Given the gaps in the evidence specifically focused on residential short-term placements, there is scope to consider how other forms of placements are used to provide respite, and whether the outcomes they achieve (for example, diffusing and relieving incidences of crises) can be replicated.

The flexible and integrated approach of No Wrong Door to support children and young people in their families and in foster care suggests that the targeted short-term use of residential care can lead to positive outcomes. Furthermore, decisions related to placements made by the No Wrong Door hub manager help to support transitions between placements and reduce delays associated with decision-making processes.

## Therapy or therapeutic?

The concept of a therapeutic environment or milieu is not new, and a pivotal US text about therapeutic milieu celebrated its 50th anniversary in 2019 (Trieschman et al., 1969). At the time of publication the US approach was described as unrealistic by an English reviewer, in terms of the generous staffing levels and availability of daily psychotherapy for residents. More recently, however, some of the overarching concepts, such as the environment of the home, have been recognised as important.

In the promotional materials about children's homes, many independent providers use the term 'therapeutic' without providing a definition or an explanation as to whether the placement is a therapeutic environment, or that specific therapies are offered. Unpacking these is not always straightforward and collaborative working between local authorities and providers has been cited as helping to manage some of the issues (Holmes, 2021).

Commissioners wishing to interrogate these terms might wish to utilise a standardised definition of therapeutic residential care, such as the internationally recognised definition offered by Whittaker and colleagues (2014, p. 24), where an emphasis is placed on the use of the placement in a **planned and purposeful way:** 

Therapeutic residential care involves the planful use of a purposefully constructed, multi-dimensional living environment designed to enhance or provide treatment, education, socialisation, support and protection to children and youths with identified mental health or behavioural needs in partnership with their families and in collaboration with a full spectrum of community-based formal and informal helping resources.

Local authorities might have their own definitions, or want to adapt the one offered above. Moving forward it would help the sector if regions or subregions use a consistent definition in their commissioning. This was a prominent discussion at a recent London Innovation and Improvement Alliance summit (see <a href="https://liia.london">https://liia.london</a>).

The evidence base for therapeutic, or treatment, residential care in the UK is sparse, with limited examples of analysis, such as studies for the Mulberry Bush therapeutic community (Gutman et al., 2018). International reviews, such as those by Lee and colleagues (2010), have shown that more specialist residential care is associated with more positive results than generic forms of residential care. A meta-analysis of 27 studies from North America, Western Europe and Australia, which focused on residential treatment programmes (Knorth et al., 2007), found that after a period in this type of setting children's psychological functioning improved, with medium and even large effect increases.

In a rare example of better outcomes from residential (treatment) as opposed to foster care, the US-based Boys Town Family Home programme<sup>4</sup> was found to result in lower placement change rates (in comparison with foster care) following placement and better rates of reunification (Lee et al., 2010). This research provides a useful example of the potential to attribute positive outcomes to residential care, when a commitment is made to the collection and use of high-quality, child-level data.

## Using the evidence

This resource provides an overview and summary of some of the existing literature about residential placements for adolescents in care. It provides some headlines about the elements or components of residential care that are associated with positive practice and outcomes, even where that evidence might be tentative. It also recognises and positions the evidence within the current context and the complexities associated with placement sufficiency. Finally, it sets out some of the evidence gaps so these can be considered locally and regionally in any analysis to explore the potential use and role of residential children's homes for adolescents in care.

Large-scale, quasi-experimental studies and Randomised Controlled Trials (RCT) for residential care do not exist within the UK context, but there are moves in that direction; the WWCSC is at the early stages of carrying out a RCT on No Wrong Door in five local authorities<sup>5</sup>. However, qualitative studies, including those that focus on the views and experiences of young people, along with the international evidence and existing literature reviews, provide an indication that residential care can be a positive placement choice if it is used in the right way, at the right time.

<sup>4</sup> Boys Town Family Model is founded on five critical elements, which are the principles that underpin their residential programmes. Further information is available here: www.boystown.org/who-we-help/Pages/boys-town-model.aspx

<sup>5</sup> The protocol for the WWCSC RCT of No Wrong Door is available here: https://whatworks-csc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/WWCSC\_NoWrongDoor\_TP\_Final\_ V1-1.pdf

## References

Berridge, D., Biehal, N., Lutman, E., Henry, L., & Palomares, M. (2011). *Raising the bar? Evaluation of the social pedagogy pilot programme in residential children's homes.* Department for Education.

Berridge, D., Biehal, N., & Henry, L. (2012). *Living in children's residential homes*. Department for Education.

Berridge, D., Luke, N., Sebba, J., Strand, S., Cartwright, M., Staples, E., McGrath-Lone, L., Ward, J., & O'Higgins, A. (2020). *Children in need and children in care: Educational attainment and progress*. University of Bristol.

Boddy, J. (2013). Understanding permanence for looked after children: A review of research for the Care Inquiry. University of Sussex.

Cameron, R.J., & Maginn, C. (2009). Achieving positive outcomes for children in care. Sage.

Children's Commissioner (2020a). The children who no-one knows what to do with. Children's Commissioner for England.

Children's Commissioner (2020b). *Unregulated: Children in care living in semi-independent accommodation*. Children's Commissioner for England.

Clough R., Bullock R., Ward A., & McPheat, G. (2008). What works in residential child care: A review of research evidence and the practical considerations. *Child and Family Social Work*, 13(1), 117-118.

Day, L., Scott, L., & Smith, K. (2017). Evaluation of the Sefton community adolescent service (CAS). Department for Education.

Department for Education (2011). *Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations: Volume 5: Children's Homes.* Department for Education.

Department for Education (2014a). Overview report: Department for Education Children's Social Care Innovation Programme. Department for Education.

Department for Education (2014b). *Children's homes data pack*. Department for Education.

Department for Education (2019). *Children looked after in England including adoptions, annual statistics.* London: Department for Education.

Dixon, J., Lee, J., Ellison, S., & Hicks, L. (2015). *Adolescents on the Edge of Care: The role of short term stays in residential care. An evidence scope.* Action for Children.

Gere, J., & MacDonald, G. (2010) An update of the empirical case for the need to belong. *Journal of Individual Psychology, 66*(1), 93–115.

Gibb, J. (2020). Problem posing during the COVID-19 pandemic: Rethinking the use of residential child care. Scottish Journal of Residential Child Care. www.celcis.org/application/files/3216/2281/5503/Problem\_posing\_during\_the\_COVID19 pandemic.pdf

Greatbatch, D., & Tate, S. (2020). *Use of unregulated and unregistered provision for children in care*. Department for Education.

Grupper, E., & Mero-Jaffe, I. (2008). Residential staff's changing attitudes toward parents of children in their care: Rationale and healing effects on children, parents, and staff. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 37(1), 43-56.

Gutman, L., Vorhaus, J., Burrows, R., & Onions, C. (2018). A longitudinal study of children's outcomes in a residential special school. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, 32(4), 409-421.

Hart, D., La Valle, I., & Holmes, L. (2015). The place of residential care in the English child welfare system. Department for Education.

Højlund, S. (2011). Home as a model for sociality in Danish children's homes: A question of authenticity. *Social Analysis*, *55*(2), 106-120.

Holmes, L. (2021). *Children's social care cost pressures and variations in unit costs.* Department for Education.

Holmes, L., Connolly, C., Mortimer, E., & Hevesi, R. (2018). Residential Group Care as a last resort: Challenging the rhetoric. *Residential Treatment for Children and Youth*, 35(3) 209-224.

Klap, K. (2008). The rehabilitation process for children and the role of the family. In Peters, F. (ed.) *Residential child care and its alternatives: International perspectives.*Trentham Books.

Knorth, E.J., Klomp, M., Van den Bergh, P.M., & Noom, M.J. (2007). Aggressive adolescents in residential care: A selective review of treatment requirements and models. *Adolescence*, 42(167), 461.

La Valle, I., Hart, D., Holmes, L., & Pinto, V. (2019). How do we know if children's social care services make a difference? Development of an outcomes framework. Rees Centre.

Lee, B.R., Fakunmojo, S., Barth, R.P., & Walters, B. (2010). *Child welfare group care literature review*. Annie E. Casey Foundation.

Lushey, C., Hyde-Dryden, G., Holmes, L., & Blackmore, J. (2017). *Evaluation of the No Wrong Door Innovation Programme, Research Report 51*. Department for Education.

Mainey, A., & Crimmens, D. (eds.) (2006). Fit for the Future? Residential child care in the United Kingdom. National Children's Bureau.

Moore, T., McArthur, M., Death, J., Tilbury, C., & Roche, S. (2018). Sticking with us through it all: The importance of trustworthy relationships for children and young people in residential care. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 84, 68–75.

National Association of Virtual School Heads (2018). *The Virtual School Handbook*. National Association of Virtual School Heads (NAVSH).

Narey, M. (2016). Residential care in England: Report of Sir Martin Narey's independent review of children's residential care. Department for Education.

Negård, I-L., Ulvik, S.O., & Oterholm, I. (2020). You and me and all of us: The significance of belonging in a continual community of children in long-term care in Norway. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 118.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105352

Newgate Research (2021). Local Government Association Children's Homes Research. Newgate Research.

Office of the Children's Commissioner (2012). Briefing for the Rt Hon Michael Gove MP, Secretary of State for Education, on the emerging findings of the Office of the Children's

Commissioner's inquiry into child sexual exploitation in gangs and groups, with a special focus on children in care. Office of the Children's Commissioner.

Rees, A., Luke, N., Sebba, J., & McNeish, D. (2017). Adolescent service change and the edge of care: Children's Social Care Innovation Programme, thematic report 2. Department for Education.

Schofield, G., Ward, E., & Larsson, B. (2015). Moving on - but staying connected: An exploration of young people's transitions from Break and the role of the Moving On team. University of East Anglia Centre for Research on Children and Families.

Southwell, J., & Fraser, E. (2010). Young people's satisfaction with residential care: Identifying strengths and weaknesses in service delivery. *Child Welfare*, 89(2), 209-228.

Strijbosch, E.L.L., Huijs, J.A.M., Stams, G.J.J.M., Wissink, I.B., Van der Helm, G.H.P., De Swart, J.J.W., & Van der Veen, Z. (2015). The outcome of institutional youth care compared to non-institutional youth care for children of primary school age and early adolescence: A multi-level meta-analysis. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 58, 208–218.

The Children's Homes (England) Regulations (2015). www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/541/regulation/1/made

Thoburn, J. (2016). Residential care as a permanence option for young people needing longer-term care. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 69, 19–28.

Treischman, A., Whittaker, J., & Brendtro, L. (1969). *The other 23 hours.* Aldine Transaction.

Ward, H., Holmes, L., & Soper, J. (2008). Costs and consequences of placing children in care. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

Whittaker, J., del Valle, J., & Holmes, L. (eds.) (2014). *Therapeutic residential care for children and youth*. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

Whittaker, J., Holmes, L., & Del Valle, J., et al. (2016). Therapeutic Residential Care for Children and Youth: A Consensus Statement of the International Work Group on Therapeutic Residential Care. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*, 33(2), 89-106.

# research in practice

# Reimagining residential children's homes

Residential care for adolescents. Right place, right time?

Research in Practice aims to support the children's sector to use research in the design and delivery of services to help secure better outcomes for children and families. We make reliable research more accessible – summarised and interpreted with the particular needs of those working with children and families in mind.

This series of publications explores key issues identified by strategic planners, policy-makers and practitioners. It provides insights into current debates, research findings, practice developments and user experiences to inform the development of the residential children's care sector. The series will be of particular interest to strategic leaders, commissioners and decision-makers in children's social care.

This resource considers the role and purpose of residential care and the strength of the evidence to inform decisions about when, and whether, placing a young person in a children's home might be the 'right placement'. It explores examples of emerging good practice, drawing on recent developments in England, as well as the international evidence.

Author: Lisa Holmes
With grateful thanks to:

Maren Andrews, David Berridge, David Gilson, Helen Meyers, Jennifer Pybis and Marie Tucker

Cover photo: SDI Productions

© Research in Practice December 2021

#### Research in Practice

The Granary, Dartington Hall Totnes, Devon, TQ9 6EE

tel 01803 867692

email ask@researchinpractice.org.uk

**☞** @researchIP

Research in Practice is a programme of The Dartington Hall Trust which is registered in England as a company limited by guarantee and a charity. Company No. 1485560 Charity No. 279756 VAT No. 402196875 Registered Office: The Elmhirst Centre, Dartington Hall, Totnes TQ9 6EL

ISBN 978-1-911638-75-9